PROMETHEE ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER IMAGING DEVICES

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE **SCHOOL OF APPLIED SCIENCES** OF NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY

By HASAN ERDAĞLI

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in **Biomedical Engineering**

NICOSIA, 2019

PROMETHEE ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER NEU 2019

IMAGING DEVICES

HASAN ERDAĞLI

PROMETHEE ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER IMAGING DEVICES

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF APPLIED SCIENCES OF NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY

By HASAN ERDAĞLI

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering

NICOSIA, 2019

Hasan ERDAĞLI: PROMETHEE ANALYSIS OF BREAST CANCER IMAGING DEVICES

Approval of Director of Graduate School of

Applied Sciences

Prof. Dr. Nadire ÇAVUŞ

We certify this thesis is satisfactory for the award of the degree of Master of Sciences in Biomedical Engineering

Examming Committee in Charge:

Prof.Dr. Ayşe Günay Kibarer

Head of the Department of Biomedical Engineering, NEU

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Dilber Uzun Özşahin

Supervisor, Department of Biomedical Engineering, NEU

Assist. Prof. Dr. Boran Şekeroğlu

Head of the Department of Information Systems, NEU

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last name:

Signature:

Date:

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my thesis advisor, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Dilber Uzun Özşahin, for her guide and support during conduct of this study.

I would like to thank Miss. Berna Uzun for her help in Fuzzy PROMETHEE program writing.

I would like to thank all my teachers who educate me during my education life.

I would like to thank my parents for their all financial and moral supports in my education life and their contribution in the formation of my personality.

I would also like to thank my spouse, Kardem Murat, for all her love and motivation.

Finally, I would like to thank to people who they have love of humanity in their heart and who are working to make this life beautiful, equitable and peaceful.

To all women...

ABSTRACT

Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer seen in women. The incidence of the breast cancer increases with age. The most important thing in the breast cancer is the diagnosis of cancer before spreading to other organs by the blood or lymph circulation. When cancer is diagnosed at an early stage, the success rate of the breast cancer treatment is over 90%. For this reason, breast cancer imaging devices should be used for early diagnosis of the breast cancer.

The main aim of this study is to shed more information on the parameters that affect the different imaging devices alternatives for breast cancer and how these parameters affect the preference ranking of each imaging device. In this study, the most common used imaging devices for breast cancer are analysed (Screen Film Mammography, Digital Mammography, Digital Breast Tomosynthesis, Ultrasound, Magnetic Resonance Imaging, Positron Emission Tomography, Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography (PET/CT), Positron Emission Tomography – Magnetic Resonance Imaging (PET/MRI), Breast Computed Tomography, Positron Emission Mammography, Breast Specific Gamma Imaging and Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography) based on some parameters that are likely to affect the outcome of the imaging methods. These parameters are; cost of per scan, cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D, compression and claustrophobia. This analysis and ranking was evaluated and compared using fuzzy PROMETHEE, a multi-criteria decision making technique.

Keywords: Cancer; breast cancer; imaging devices; multi-criteria decision making; fuzzy PROMETHEE

ÖZET

Meme kanseri, kadınlarda en sık görülen kanser türüdür. Meme kanseri görülme oranı yaşla birlikte artmaktadır. Meme kanserinde en önemli şey, kanserin diğer organlara kan veya lenf dolaşımı ile yayılmadan önce teşhis edilmesidir. Kanser erken bir aşamada teşhis edilirse, meme kanseri tedavisinin başarı oranı %90'ın üzerindedir. Bu nedenle meme kanseri görüntüleme cihazları, meme kanserinin erken teşhisi için kullanılmalıdır.

Bu çalışmanın amacı, meme kanseri için kullanılan görüntüleme cihaz alternatiflerini etkileyen parametreler ve bu parametrelerin her bir görüntüleme cihazının tercih sıralamasını nasıl etkilediği ile ilgili daha fazla bilgi vermektir. Bu çalışmada, meme kanseri için en yaygın kullanılan görüntüleme cihazları (Ekran-Film Mamografi,Dijital Mamografi, Dijital Meme Tomosentezi, Ultrason, Manyetik Resonans Görüntüleme, Pozitron Emisyon Tomografisi, Pozitron Emisyon Tomografisi - Bilgisayarlı Tomografi (PET/BT), Pozitron Emisyon Tomografisi, Pozitron Emisyon Mamografi, Memeye Özel Gama Görüntüleme, Tek Foton Emisyon Bilgisayarlı Tomografi), görüntüleme yöntemlerinin sonucunu etkileyebilecek bazı parametrelere dayanarak analiz edilmiştir. Bu parametreler; tarama başına maliyeti, cihazın maliyeti, radyasyon dozu, özgüllük, duyarlılık, toplam tarama süresi, uzamsal çözünürlük, doğal radyasyon dozuyla karşılaştırma, üç boyut, sıkıştırma ve klostrofobidir. Bu analiz ve sıralama, çok kriterli bir karar verme tekniği olan bulanık PROMETHEE kullanılarak değerlendirildi ve karşılaştırıldı.

Anahtar kelimeler: Kanser; meme kanseri; görüntüleme cihazları; çok kriterli karar verme; bulanık PROMETHEE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i
ABSTRACT	iii
ÖZET	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Thesis Problem	3
1.2 Aim of the Study	3
1.3 Significance of the Study	3
1.4 Limitations of the Study	4
CHAPTER 2: CLINICAL BACKGROUND	5
2.1 Anatomy of the Breast	5
2.2 Breast Cancer	6
CHAPTER 3: BREAST CANCER IMAGING DEVICES	7
3.1 Screen Film Mammography	7
3.2 Digital Mammography	8
3.3 Digital Breast Tomosynthesis	9
3.4 Ultrasound	10
3.5 Magnetic Resonance Imaging	11
3.6 Positron Emission Tomography	12

3.7 Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography	13
3.8 Positron Emission Tomography – Magnetic Resonance Imaging	14
3.9 Breast Computed Tomography	15
3.10 Positron Emission Mammography	16
3.11 Breast Specific Gamma Imaging	17
3.12 Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography	18

CHAPTER 4: PARAMETERS	5
4.1 Cost of Per Scan	19
4.2 Cost of Device	19
4.3 Radiation Dose	20
4.4 Specificity	20
4.5 Sensitivity	20
4.6 Total Scan Time	20
4.7 Spatial Resolution	21
4.8 Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure	21
4.9 Real 3D	21
4.10 Compression	21
4.11 Claustrophobia	21
CHAPTER 5: LITERATURE REVIEW	23
CHAPTER 6: METHOD	24
6.1 Fuzzy Logic	24
6.2 Multi-criteria Decision Making	25

6.3 PROMETHEE	25
6.3.1 The steps of the PROMETHEE method	26

6.4 Application of PROMETHEE to the Project	28
CHAPTER 7: RESULTS	35
CHAPTER 8 : CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION	51
8.1 Conclusion	51
8.2 Discussion	51
REFERENCES	53

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: Anatomy of the Breast	6
Figure 2.2: Breast Cancer	6
Figure 3.1: Screen-Film Mammography	7
Figure 3.2: Digital Mammography	8
Figure 3.3: Digital Breast Tomosynthesis	9
Figure 3.4: Ultrasound	10
Figure 3.5: Magnetic Resonance Imaging	11
Figure 3.6: Positron Emission Tomography	12
Figure 3.7: Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography	13
Figure 3.8: Positron Emission Tomography – Magnetic Resonance Imaging	14
Figure 3.9: Breast Computed Tomography	15
Figure 3.10: Positron Emission Mammography	16
Figure 3.11: Breast Specific Gamma Imaging	17
Figure 3.12: Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography	18
Figure 7.1: Action Profile of PEM for patients	36
Figure 7.2: Action Profile of BCT for patients	36
Figure 7.3: Action Profile of DBT for patients	37
Figure 7.4: Action Profile of DM for patients	37
Figure 7.5: Action Profile of U/S for patients	38
Figure 7.6: Action Profile of SFM for patients	38
Figure 7.7: Action Profile of MRI for patients	39
Figure 7.8: Action Profile of BSGI for patients	39
Figure 7.9: Action Profile of PET/MRI for patients	40
Figure 7.10: Action Profile of PET for patients	40

Figure 7.11: Action Profile of PET/CT for patients	41						
Figure 7.12: Action Profile of SPECT for patients							
Figure 7.13: Positive and Negative Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices Patients	42						
Figure 7.14: Action Profile of PEM for hospitals	44						
Figure 7.15: Action Profile of BCT for hospitals	44						
Figure 7.16: Action Profile of MRI for hospitals	45						
Figure 7.17: Action Profile of DBT for hospitals	45						
Figure 7.18: Action Profile of DM for hospitals	46						
Figure 7.19: Action Profile of U/S for hospitals	46						
Figure 7.20: Action Profile of PET/CT for hospitals	47						
Figure 7.21: Action Profile of PET for hospitals	47						
Figure 7.22: Action Profile of SFM for hospitals	48						
Figure 7.23: Action Profile of SPECT for hospitals	48						
Figure 7.24: Action Profile of PET/MRI for hospitals	49						
Figure 7.25: Action Profile of BSGI for hosiptals	49						
Figure 7.26: Positive and Negative Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for							
Hospitals	50						

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Breast Cancer Imaging Devices and Their Detailed Parameters	19
Table 6.1: Parameter Values of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices	28
Table 6.2: Linguistic scale of importance for Patients	29
Table 6.3: Visual PROMETHEE Application of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for	
Patients	30
Table 6.4: Visual PROMETHEE Statistics of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for	
Patients	31
Table 6.5: Linguistic scale of importance for Hospitals	32
Table 6.6: Visual PROMETHEE Application of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for	
Hospitals	33
Table 6.7: Visual PROMETHEE Statistics of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for	
Hospitals	34
Table 7.1: Complete Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Patients	35
Table 7.2: Complete Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Hospitals	43

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

SFM:	Screen Film Mammography	
DM:	Digital Mammography	
DBT:	Digital Breast Tomosynthesis	
U/S:	Ultrasound	
MRI:	Magnetic Resonance Imaging	
PET:	Positron Emission Tomography	
PET/CT:	Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography	
PET/MRI:	Positron Emission Tomography – Magnetic Resonance Imaging	
BCT:	Breast Computed Tomography	
PEM:	Positron Emission Mammography	
BSGI:	Breast Specific Gamma Imaging	
SPECT:	Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography	
mSv:	Millisievert	
lp/mm:	I:Digital MammographyI:Digital MammographyT:Digital Breast TomosynthesisS:UltrasoundRI:Magnetic Resonance ImagingT:Positron Emission TomographyT/CT:Positron Emission Tomography – Computed TomographyT/MRI:Positron Emission Tomography – Magnetic Resonance ImagingT:Breast Computed TomographyM:Positron Emission MammographyGI:Breast Specific Gamma ImagingECT:Single Photon Emission Computed Tomographyv:Millisievertnm:Line pairs per millimeter:Three Dimensional	
3D:	Three Dimensional	
sec:	Second	

fuzzy PROMETHEE: Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment Evaluations

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Cancer is the growth and proliferation of the cells in an uncontrolled or abnormal manner due to the DNA damage in cells.

All cancers develop from our cells, which are the basic life unit of the body. Healthy cells in our bodies have skill to divide. Cells use these skills to reproduce dead cells and repair injured tissues but each cell has a certain number of divisiveness throughout its life. They can't be divided indefinitely. In order to human body work healthy and properly, the cells must grow, divide and produce more cells. Sometimes this process deviates from its normal path and the cells continue to divide without need for new cells. Even if the cell has DNA damage in its normal life, the cell will either repair it or die. In cancerous cells, damaged DNA become irreparable and starts proliferation uncontrollably. The DNA can be damaged by environmental factors (such as chemicals, radiation, air pollutions, viruses, excessive sunlight, tobacco products, etc.). The cancerous cells form tumour by accumulation. The tumour may be benign or malignant. Cells don't spread to other parts of the body which they are in benign tumours. In necessary situations, they are taken from the body and often do not repeat. The malignant tumours are cancer. Cells in the malignant tumour are abnormal and divide uncontrollably and irregularly. These tumours can be compress, destroy or penetrate to the normal tissues. If the cancerous cells leave the tumour that they formed, they can be able to spread to the other parts of the body through the lymph circulation or blood circulation. Where they go, they continue to divide and grow, with this way form new tumour colonies.

The incidence of cancer types varies between men and women. The most common kind of cancer seen in women worldwide is the breast cancer. One in every 4 women with cancer in the world is the breast cancer (Breast Cancer Research Foundation, 2018). Mostly, it seen in menopausal women but it may be seen at any age.

The breast cancer incidence and the mortality are lower in developing countries than in developed countries.

The breast cancer is the result of uncontrolled proliferation of the cells that form milk and milk channel in the breast tissue.

The most prominent symptom of the breast cancer is the mass in breast or the region close to the breast (armpit). If the mass is enlarged, the nipple can be turning inward and the breast can be enlarged. Bloody or bloodless discharge from the nipple might also be a sign of breast cancer, which are very rare situations.

The most important thing in the breast cancer is the diagnosis of cancer before spreading to other organs by the blood or lymph circulation. For this reason, breast cancer imaging devices should be used for early diagnosis of the breast cancer.

That imaging devices are;

- Screen Film Mammography
- Digital Mammography
- Digital Breast Tomosynthesis
- Ultrasound
- Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- Positron Emission Tomography
- Positron Emission Tomography Computed Tomography
- Positron Emission Tomography Magnetic Resonance Imaging
- Breast Computed Tomography
- Positron Emission Mammography
- Breast Specific Gamma Imaging
- Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography

In this thesis study, the most common imaging devices for breast cancer are considered and analysed in order to obtain a ranking of the parameters in relation to cost of per scan, cost of device, radiation dose, comparison of natural radiation exposure, specificity, sensitivity, energy resolution, total scan time, spatial resolution, real 3D, compression and claustrophobia of the imaging devices. The analysis and ranking is done using fuzzy PROMETHEE.

1.1 Thesis Problem

- Breast cancer is the most common type of cancer seen in women worldwide (American Institute for Cancer Research, 2018).
- There were over 2 million new breast cancer cases in 2018 (World Health Organization/ Global Cancer Statistics, 2018).
- In 2018, approximately 627,000 women died due to breast cancer worldwide (World Health Organization, WHO 2018).
- Breast cancer survival rates vary greatly worldwide, ranging from 80% or over in highincome countries, around 60% in middle-income countries and below 40% in lowincome countries (World Health Organization, WHO 2014).
- The reason of seen too much of breast cancer and the low survival rates can be explained by the lack of adequate diagnosis facilities or lack of their parameter qualities.

1.2 Aim of the Study

- To analyse and rank the most common imaging devices for Breast Cancer using fuzzy-PROMETHEE.
- To determine the most desirable imaging devices based on some contributing parameters that determine the quality of diagnosis of the breast cancer.
- To help related people by presenting the best result according to the needed attributes of the breast cancer imaging devices.

1.3 Significance of the Study

- The result of this study will add the most comprehensive information and comparison about the breast cancer imaging devices' parameters to literature.
- The results of this study will provide comparability with alternative devices on the breast cancer imaging options and detailed information about the parameters of the devices, to manufacturers, patients and hospitals.
- The results of this study will help patients to find the most effective way to increase their breast cancer diagnosis rate.
- The results of this study will make it easier to select best imaging option for the breast cancer.

1.4 Limitations of the Study

- Although there are different types of parameters other than the used parameters, this information are not available for each device. Because of this, they are not added to this study.
- Some companies didn't publish their information about manufactured devices. Because of this, there are lacks of source to find the information.

CHAPTER 2 CLINICAL BACKGROUND

2.1 Anatomy of the Breast

The main components of the female breast (Cooper, A. P. ,1840);

- Lymph Node: The lymph nodes are located in the breast tissue and armpit to carry lymph fluid to remove foreign substances.
- Lymphatic Vessel: The function of the lymphatic vessels in the breast is to drain excess amount of fluid.
- **Blood Vessel:** The blood vessels in the breast also carry fluid called lymph.
- **Lobes:** The lobes are bunches of the lobules which are the structures that have the ability to produce milk.
- **Ducts:** The ducts are the milk channels and their function is to transport milk to the nipple from the lobules.
- Fat, Ligaments, and Connective tissue: Fatty tissue is the effective factor in the breast's size and the size of the breast depends on the amount of the fatty tissue. In addition to this, ligaments and connective tissue give the breast its shape by supporting it.

2.2 Breast Cancer

The Breast Cancer is the growth and proliferation of the cells in an uncontrolled or abnormal manner due to the DNA damage in ducts and lobes cells in the breast tissue.

All cancers develop from our cells of the body. The cells in our bodies have ability to produce new cells to reproduce dead cells and repair injured tissues. The breast cancer occurs when the abnormal cells grow and divide without their normal control and continue to divide and multiply in the breast because of the DNA damage.

Between 50 and 75 percent of the breast cancers are invasive ductal carcinoma and 10 to 15 percent of it is invasive lobular carcinoma. The invasive ductal carcinoma is the occurrence of the breast cancer in milk channels (duct), the invasive lobular carcinoma is the occurrence in milk glands (lobes) and the few of the breast cancer can be seen in other breast tissues (Dillon, D. A., Guidi, A. J., & Schnitt, S. J. , 2010).

Breast cancer, can spread to the region close to the breast via the cancerous tissue itself. Also it is possible to spread other parts of the body through the lymph system and the bloodstream.



Figure 2.1: Anatomy of the Breast (WebMD, LLC. , 2014)



Figure 2.2: Breast Cancer (saglikbilimlerifakultesi.com, 2019)

CHAPTER 3 BREAST CANCER IMAGING DEVICES

3.1 Screen Film Mammography

Screen-Film Mammography is a device, which is used for imaging breast cancer. The Screenfilm mammography includes three main components which are; small x-ray tube, compression plate and x-ray cassette. Patients' breast placed between compression plate and grid where the compression plate provides compression to the breast to decrease the thickness of the breast. By this way, breast tissue expands and the image quality increases. The x- ray tube sends narrow beams through the patients' breast. While the x-rays leave the breast, they are collected up by the x-ray cassette which is located at the opposite side of the x-ray tube. The collected information can be printed from the cassette as an image.



Figure 3.1: Screen-Film Mammography (EMORY WINSHIP CANCER INSTITUTE)

3.2 Digital Mammography

Digital Mammography is a device, which is used for imaging breast cancer by using special detector to collect and convert x-ray into a digital image. The digital mammography includes three main components which are; x-ray tube, compression plate and x-ray detector. Patients' breast placed between compression plate and grid to provide compression to the breast to decrease the thickness of the breast. By this way, breast tissue expands and the image quality increases. The x- ray tube sends narrow beams through the breast. While x-rays leave the breast, they are collected by the x-ray detector which is located at the opposite side of the x-ray tube. The collected information from the detector can be seen in a digital platform like monitor of the digital mammography.



Figure 3.2: Digital Mammography (Hologic Selenia)

3.3 Digital Breast Tomosynthesis

Digital Breast Tomosynthesis is a device, which is used for imaging breast cancer by using special type of x-ray source and computer reconstructions to create 3D (three dimensional) images. Because of these abilities, the digital breast tomosynthesis, also called 3D mammography. In Digital Breast Tomosynthesis examination, patients' breast placed between compression plate and detector, to provide compression to the breast to decrease the thickness of the breast like similar mammographic applications. The special type of x-ray tube makes an arc and sends many of narrow beams through the breast from different angles. Information which are taken from the breast are collected by the detector and these information are the series images of the breast from the different angle and they are reconstructed by the computer. By this way, the series images transform into detailed three dimensional images.



Figure 3.3: Digital Breast Tomosynthesis (Hologic 3D Mammography)

3.4 Ultrasound

Ultrasound is a device, which is used for imaging breast cancer by using high-frequency sound waves. Ultrasound examination does not include any radiation. The imaging process starts with placing a sound-emitting probe of the device on the patients' breast. The applied sound waves from the probe pass through the breast and when these sound waves strikes any mass inside the breast, it bounce back or echo and the same probe receives these echo waves. The collected echo waves from the probe, analysed by the devices' computer and transformed into an image. By this way, it is possible to measure the distance, size and shape of the mass inside the breast.



Figure 3.4: Ultrasound (Lange Productions)

3.5 Magnetic Resonance Imaging

An MRI scan is an imaging technique that uses magnetism and radio waves to produce images of patient's body. The human body contains of average % 60 water (in adult) and the water molecules consist of two hydrogen and an oxygen atoms. The working principle of the MRI device is associated with these hydrogen atoms. The MRI magnet creates a strong magnetic field that arrange the protons of hydrogen atoms, then the hydrogen atoms exposed to a beam of radio waves. The protons which are aligned absorb the energy from the magnetic field and flip their spins. When the magnetic field is turned off from the MRI scanner, the hydrogen protons return to their normal spin. The return process of the hydrogen protons produces a radio signal and the images created by measuring this radio signal. This scan type gives us the molecular detailed information from the body.



Figure 3.5: Breast MRI (GE Healthcare)

3.6 Positron Emission Tomography

Positron Emission Tomography (PET) is an imaging technique that uses a special kind of camera and a radioactive substance, to observe the organs inside the patients' body for detecting cancer. The radioactive substances include glucose. When radioactive substances injected the body it goes to the tissues that use glucose for energy and annihilation occurs when the electron (e–) reacts with the positron (e+). PET images are generated with detection of the 511 Kev photons that arise during positron annihilation. The PET device, consist of the circular gamma radiation detector sequent, which has a scintillation crystal and each scintillation crystal connects to the photomultiplier tube of the device. The two 511 Kev photons interact with the crystals in PET detector ring and the photomultiplier tubes transform and amplify the photons to electrical signals and the electrical signal transform to the images. In the result of the detected images, three dimensional images created.



Figure 3.6: PET Scanner (Wikimedia Commons)

3.7 Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography

PET/CT is the combination of the positron emission tomography and computed tomography in a single gantry system of device. This system gives us both anatomical and functional information from the patient. For the anatomical information, Computed Tomography (CT) and for the functional information, Positron Emission Tomography (PET) is used. During PET/CT scan, radioactive substances injected to the patient. The patient lies on a bed which moves towards the gantry system slowly. PET detect photons by circular gamma ray detector sequent, which has a scintillation crystal and photomultiplier tubes transform and amplify the photons to electrical signals. A CT scan has an x-ray tube that rotates around the patient for shooting narrow beams of x-rays through the patients' body. During the x-rays leave the patient, x-rays are collected by the detectors which are located at the opposite side of the x-ray tube. The collected information transmit to a computer and detailed images created.

A CT scan shows the locations of the body's organs and PET scan shows abnormal cell activity of the body's organs. In this way the exact location of the cancer can be shown.



Figure 3.7: PET/CT (GE Healthcare, Discovery IQ)

3.8 Positron Emission Tomography – Magnetic Resonance Imaging

PET/MRI is the combination of the positron emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging in a single gantry system of device. This system gives us both molecular and functional information from the patient. For the molecular information Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and for the functional information Positron Emission Tomography (PET) is used. During PET/MRI scan, radioactive substances injected to the patients. The patient lies on a bed which moves towards the gantry system slowly. PET detect photons by circular gamma ray detector array, which has a series of scintillation crystal and photomultiplier tubes converts and amplify the photons to electrical signals. An MRI scan use magnetic field that arrange the protons of hydrogen atoms, then the hydrogen atoms exposed to a beam of radio waves. The protons which are aligned absorb the energy from the magnetic field and flip their spins. When the magnetic field is turned off from the MRI scanner, the hydrogen protons return to their normal spin. The return process of the hydrogen protons produces a radio signal and the images created by measuring this radio signal. The collected information transmit to a computer and detailed images created.



Figure 3.8: PET/MRI (GE Healthcare, Signa)

3.9. Breast Computed Tomography

Breast Computed Tomography is a device, which is used for imaging breast cancer by using xray tube and digital detector. This device includes a hole where patients' breast placed inside it without any compression to the breast. The imaging process starts with placing patients' breast into this hole, lying face down on the device. When patients' breast placed inside the hole, it is surrounded by the x-ray tube and the digital detector. The x-ray tube and the digital detector are positioned parallel to each other and they have ability to rotate 360 degree around the breast. The special type of x-ray tube sends many of narrow beams through the breast from different angles. Information which is taken from the breast is collected by the digital detector. This information is the series images of the breast from the different angle. These series images are combined by the device' reconstruction system and they transform into detailed three dimensional images.



Figure 3.9: Breast Computed Tomography (Koning Breast CT)

3.10. Positron Emission Mammography

Positron emission mammography (PEM) is a nuclear imaging device, which is used for imaging breast cancer by using special type of camera and a radioactive substance. In PEM examination, patients' breast placed between two gamma ray detectors, which have a series of scintillation crystal and each scintillation crystal connected to a photomultiplier tube. The imaging process starts with injection of the radioactive substances to the patients'. The radioactive substance includes glucose. The radioactive substances are collected by the cancerous tissue in the breast, because cancerous tissue needs glucose to growth and annihilation occurs when the electron (e–) reacts with the positron (e+). PEM images are generated with detection of the 511 Kev photons that arise during positron annihilation. The two 511 Kev photons interact with the crystals in PEM detectors and the photomultiplier tubes transform and amplify the photons to electrical signals and the electrical signal transform to the images. In the result of the detected images, three dimensional images created.



Figure 3.10: Positron Emission Mammography (CMR Naviscan, EYMSA)

3.11. Breast Specific Gamma Imaging

Breast Specific Gamma Imaging (BSGI) is a nuclear imaging device, which is used for imaging breast cancer by using special type of camera (gamma-camera) and a radioactive substance. In BSGI examination, patients' breast placed between gamma camera, which is optimized for breast imaging and compression plate to decrease thickness and immobilize the breast during imaging process. The radioactive substance includes glucose. The radioactive substances are collected by the cancerous tissue in the breast, because cancerous tissue needs glucose to growth. The gamma rays detect by the gamma camera. In order to detect the gamma photons, the large crystal of sodium iodide is used. Only the gamma photons hits to the crystal, other photons are absorbed by the collimator. A crystal gives a tiny flash when a gamma photon hits it. The flash is picked up by photomultiplier tubes and converts it to an electrical signal and the electrical signal transform to the images by the computer of the device.



Figure 3.11: Breast Specific Gamma Imaging (The Dilon 6800 Gamma Camera, Dilon Technologies)

3.12 Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography

SPECT scan is a type of nuclear imaging test and it shows how blood flows to tissues and organs. A radioactive tracer is injected into the patient for taking information. Unlike PET, there is rotating camera or cameras and SPECT emits gamma radiation. A sinogram is generated by rotating detectors around a patient. The gamma rays detected by the detectors which are placed around the patient. In order to detect the gamma photons, the large crystal of sodium iodide is used. Only the gamma photons hits to the crystal, other photons are absorbed by the collimator. A crystal gives a tiny flash when a gamma photon hits it. The flash is picked up by photomultiplier tubes and converts it to an electrical signal. The electrical signals transform to the images by the computer.



Figure 3.12: SPECT Scanner (SIEMENS, Symbia Evo)

CHAPTER 4 PARAMETERS

Device / Parameter	SFM	DM	DBT	U/S	MRI	PET	PET/CT	PET/MRI	BCT	PEM	BSGI	SPECT
Cost of Per Scan	\$45	\$155.76	\$215.94	\$155	\$2,611	\$4,500	\$5,000	\$3,500	\$1,500	\$1,100	\$450	\$3,950
Cost of Device	\$240,000	\$273,940	\$462,010	\$45,000	\$400,000	\$1,900,000	\$2,000,000	\$4,500,000	.\$1,000,000	\$700,000	\$500,000	\$500,000
Radiation Dose (mSv: millisievert)	0.56 mSv	0.44 mSv	1.0 mSv	No Radiation	No Radiation	6.7 mSv	17.6 mSv	9.3 mSv	1.39 mSv	6.65 mSv	9.15 mSv	6 mSv
Specificity	%98.5	%96.9	%80.7	%88.5	%89.7	%85	%89	%71.4	%87	%96	% 59.5	%71
Sensitivity	% 66.1	%69.1	%92	%72.6	%82	%90	%95	%100	%91	%95	% 96.4	%87
Total Scan Time	5sec.	6 sec.	4 sec.	15 min.	30 min.	25 min.	30 min.	30 min.	10 sec.	5 min.	10 min.	30 min.
Spatial Resolution (Ip/mm: line pairs per millimeter)	16 lp/mm	5.0 lp/mm	2.65 lp/mm	2.0 lp/mm	1.5 lp/mm	1.5 lp/mm	1.1 lp/mm	0.3 lp/mm	0.32 lp/mm	1.5 lp/mm	1.6 lp/mm	2.0 lp/mm
Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure (3 mSv)	10 weeks	8 weeks	4 months	No Radiation	No Radiation	2.3 years	5.8 years	3.1 years	5.5 months	2.2 years	3 years	2 years
Real 3D	×	×	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	×	1
No Compression	×	×	×	×	1	1	1	1	1	×	×	1
Not Claustrophobic	1	1	1	1	×	×	×	×	1	1	1	×

Table 4.1: Breast Cancer Imaging Devices and Their Detailed Parameters

4.1 Cost of Per Scan

Cost of per breast cancer imaging devices scan vary between \$ 45 (SFM) and \$ 5,000 (PET/CT) according to difference of applied technology, cost of the devices, used radioactive substance and working principles of devices.

4.2 Cost of Device

Cost of breast cancer imaging devices vary between \$ 45,000 (Ultrasound) and \$ 4,500,000 (PET/MRI). The used technology in breast cancer imaging devices, such as; x-ray tube, gamma ray detector, high performance magnets are increased the cost of the devices.

4.3 Radiation Dose

The applied radiation dose units in medical imaging are generally called as a millisieverts (mSv). The radiation dose of breast cancer imaging devices varies between 0 (No Radiation) mSv and 17.6 mSv. The ultrasound and the MRI devices are not including any x- ray source. On the other hand in PET/CT application, patients are exposed average 17.6 mSv because of it is include both X-ray source and radioactive substance.

4.4 Specificity

Specificity values are showing the true negative rate of the patient. It means it indicates the rate of correct diagnosis to a non-cancerous patient. The specificity value should be high in order to prevent the wrong positive cancer diagnosis even if there is no cancerous tissue in the patients. The specificity of breast cancer imaging devices vary between and % 59.5 (BSGI) and % 98.5 (SFM).

4.5 Sensitivity

Sensitivity values are showing the true positive rate of the patient. It means it indicates the rate of correct diagnosis to a cancerous patient. The sensitivity value should be high in order to prevent the wrong negative cancer diagnosis even if there is a cancerous tissue in the patients. The sensitivity of breast cancer imaging devices vary between and % 66.1 (SFM) and % 100 (PET/MRI).

4.6 Total Scan Time

Total scan time is the time of spent in each breast cancer imaging operation. The total scan time shows differences for each imaging devices according to differences in imaging process. The total scan time of breast cancer imaging devices vary between and 4 seconds (DBT) and 30 minutes (MRI – PET/CT – PET/MRI).
4.7 Spatial Resolution

Spatial resolution is the amount of pixels used in creation of a digital image. The images which have higher spatial resolution have more detailed information than lower spatial resolution images. Because of this reason it has important role to serve detailed examination of the breast cancer images.

4.8 Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure

We are continuously exposed to natural sources of radiation. Natural radiation is also called background radiation. They occurs from, cosmic radiation from outer space, radon gas in the house and environmental radiation sources. The average natural radiation doses which are exposed in year are 3 mSv.

4.9 Real 3D

3D (three dimensional) imaging ability is the important property for breast cancer imaging devices to improve diagnostic confidence, decrease exploratory surgery and decrease damage in healthy tissue by specifying the treatment area.

4.10 Compression

Compression is a disadvantage for the breast cancer imaging devices. Some of the breast cancers imaging devices are include compression unit to decrease the thickness of the breast. By this way, breast tissue expands and the image quality increases. Although it is a useful process and not major disadvantage, most of time the compression gives pain to the patient and it may cause some patients not to choose like that devices.

4.11 Claustrophobia

Claustrophobia is one of the most common phobias in worldwide (15 to 37 present of people) (Claustrophobia: Fear of confined spaces - Causes, Symptoms and Treatment / Healthtopia, 2018) for both men and women and it seen more likely to be claustrophobic in women than men.

Because of this reason, claustrophobia is the major disadvantage for the breast cancer imaging devices. Claustrophobic devices are; MRI, PET, PET/CT, PET/MRI and SPECT.

CHAPTER 5 LITERATURE REVIEW

Ozsahin et al. (2017) with using a Multi Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) technique carried out a study to analyze and compare the most common used nuclear medicine imaging devices (Positron Emission Tomography (PET), Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomography (PET/CT), Single Positron Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT), Single Positron Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT) and Positron Emission Tomography/Magnetic Resonance Imaging (PET/MRI)) based on some parameters that are likely to affect the outcome of the imaging methods. These parameters are; cost of treatment, average scan time, spatial resolution, specificity of the device, sensitivity of the device, energy resolution and average radiation dose. In their analysis, to define the magnitude of the triangular fuzzy numbers, they used Yager Index and they used Visual PROMETHEE method to arrive at their results. Their research analysis finalized that PET with a net-flow of 0.0005 is a more advantageous and suitable imaging device according to the used parameters.

Ozsahin et al. (2018) with using a Multi Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) technique carried out a study to analyze and compare the x-ray based imaging devices (Radiography machine, Angiography, Computed Tomography (CT), Fluoroscopy and Mammography) based on some parameters that are likely to portray the efficiency, negativity and potentiality and of each imaging device. These parameters are; cost of treatment, cost of device, sensitivity, specificity and radiation dose. In their analysis, to define the magnitude of the triangular fuzzy numbers, they used Yager Index and they used Visual PROMETHEE method to arrive at their results. Their results rank shows, when the cost of machine is not added into consideration, with the net flow of 0.0017 the conventional x-ray device as a suitable imaging device. On the other hand, when the cost of device is added into consideration, mammography outranked the other x-ray based medical imaging devices with a net flow of 0.0015.

CHAPTER 6 METHOD

6.1 Fuzzy Logic

In standard explanation, an element is a member of the set or not. When mathematically expressed, the element takes the value of '1' when it is the member of the set and it takes the value of '0' when it is not the member of the set. Fuzzy logic is the expansion of the standard set representation. The membership degree of the elements can be any value between '0' and '1' in the fuzzy logic. If specific two degrees are hot or cold, what does it mean of value of between of these two degrees? Fuzzy logic is a method that provides the degree of membership to these intermediate values. For example, according to the fuzzy logic, purely red and purely green apples are top points, the boundaries are indicate and labels for the ones between the top points are possible. Because of green apple is a start, bit redden green apples are 30%, if they are more redden 40%, if they are little green (mostly red) it means they are in 70% fried apples categories. Thus, a method that enriches the truth values of classical logic emerges.

Fuzzy logic can be defined as design of decision mechanism and it is essential to the development of humanoid capabilities for artificial intelligence (Zadeh, L. A., Klir, G. J., & Yuan, B., 1996).

6.2 Multi Criteria Decision Making

Multipi Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) is a method to evaluate various available options, according to decision criteria and also to assign importance weightings (Very High, Important, Medium, Low, Very Low) to the criteria. Upon this, according to the assigned importance weightings, the best option can be determined and makes the parameter a favorable (maximal advantage) or unfavorable (minimal concession) choice for a specific application.

6.3 Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment Evaluations (PROMETHEE)

PROMETHEE is a technique of the multi-criteria decision making tool to analyze and rank available options based on the parameter of each options for researcher. It is developed by Brans et al. (Brans, Vincke & Mareschal, 1986). The PROMETHEE technique is one of the easy to use and most effective methods both planning and application when it is compared to other Multi-Criteria Decision Making methods.

The reason of the PROMETHEE being most favorable technique of multi criteria decision methods are (Ulengin et al., 2001);

- PROMETHEE can be applied in real life decision making problems.
- PROMETHEE works on fuzzy logic and uncertainty.
- PROMETHEE can provide control mechanism to researcher to check him or her fictitious and real data to observe their potential.
- PROMETHEE can give both partial and complete ranking of the options respectively.

Only two kinds of information are required for the PROMETHEE method from the researcher (decision maker): the information on the weights of the defined criteria and the the researcher's preference function to compare the contribution of alternatives in terms of each criterion. (Macharis, Springael, De Brucker & Verbeke, 2004).

In the PROMETHEE method, different preference functions (P_j) are available for the purpose of describe to different criteria. The preference function (P_j) describes the difference between the rating with two alternatives (a and a_t) in terms of each criterion and a preference degree ranking between '0' and '1'. There are different types of the preference functions which can be used to apply the PROMETHEE method. They are; linear, usual, level, Gaussian, U-shape and V-shape functions.

6.3.1 Steps of the PROMETHEE Method (Brans, Vincke & Mareschal, 1986)

- 1. Determine a specific preference function p_j (d) for each parameter j.
- 2. Determine the weight of each parameter $w_t = (w_1, w_2, w_3 ..., w_k)$. Each weights of the parameter can be defined equally if only their importance is equal according to the discretion of the decision maker. $\sum_{k=1}^{K} w_k = 1$.
- 3. Determine the outranking relation π for all alternative $a_t, a_{t'} \in A$.

$$\pi(a_t, a_{t'}) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} w_k \cdot \left[p_k \left(f_k(a_t) - f_k(a_{t'}) \right) \right], \quad AXA \to [0, 1]$$

- 4. Determine the negative (entering) and positive (leaving) outranking flows;
 - Negative (entering) outranking flow for $a_t: \Phi^-(a_t) = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{\substack{t'=1 \\ t' \neq t}}^n \pi(a_{t'}, a_t)$

• Positive (leaving) outranking flow for
$$a_t$$
: $\Phi^+(a_t) = \frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{\substack{t'=1 \\ t' \neq t}}^n \pi(a_t, a_{t'})$

n is the meaning of the number of alternatives. Each alternative is compared with (n-1) number of another alternative. The positive (leaving) outranking flow $\Phi^+(a_t)$ refers to the strength of alternative $(a_t) \in A$, while the negative (entering) outranking flow $\Phi^-(a_t)$ refers to the weakness of the alternatives, $(a_t) \in A$.

5. Determine the partial preorder on the alternatives of A. In PROMETHEE I alternative a_t is decided to alternative $a_{t'}$ ($a_t P a_{t'}$) if it supplies the one of the following conditions: ($a_t P a_{t'}$) if;

$$\begin{cases} \Phi^{+}(a_{t}) > \Phi^{+}(a_{t'}) \text{ and } \Phi^{-}(a_{t}) < \Phi^{-}(a_{t'}) \\ \Phi^{+}(a_{t}) > \Phi^{+}(a_{t'}) \text{ and } \Phi^{-}(a_{t}) = \Phi^{-}(a_{t'}) \\ \Phi^{+}(a_{t}) = \Phi^{+}(a_{t'}) \text{ and } \Phi^{-}(a_{t}) < \Phi^{-}(a_{t,}a_{t'}) \end{cases}$$

If there are two alternatives (a_t and $a_{t'}$), with similar or equal positive (leaving) and negative (entering) flows, a_t is indifferent to $a_{t'}$ ($a_t I a_{t'}$):

$$(a_t I a_{t'})$$
 if: $\Phi^+(a_t) = \Phi^+(a_{t'})$ and $\Phi^-(a_t) = \Phi^-(a_{t'})$.

 a_t is unique to $a_{t'}$ ($a_t R a_{t'}$) if;

$$\begin{cases} \Phi^+(a_t) > \Phi^+(a_{t'}) \text{ and } \Phi^-(a_t) > \Phi^-(a_{t'}) \\ \Phi^+(a_t) < \Phi^+(a_{t'}) \text{ and } \Phi^-(a_t) < \Phi^-(a_{t'}) \end{cases}$$

6. Determine the net outranking flow for each alternative:

$$\Phi^{net}(a_t) = \Phi^+(a_t) - \Phi^-(a_t)$$

(The net outranking flow = The positive outranking flow – the negative outranking flow)

With usage PROMETHEE II, the complete pre order can be obtained by the net flow and determined by:

$$a_t$$
 is preferred to $a_{t'}$ $(a_t P a_{t'})$ if $\Phi^{net}(a_t) > \Phi^{net}(a_{t'})$

a is indifferent to $a_{t'}$ ($a_t I a_{t'}$) if $\Phi^{net}(a_t) = \Phi^{net}(a_{t'})$.

As a result, the better alternative is the one having the higher $\Phi^{net}(a_t)$ (the net outranking flow) value.

6.4 Application of PROMETHEE to the Project

To determine the weight of each parameters of the breast cancer imaging device, Yager index was used to find the triangular fuzzy numbers.

Table 6.1 shows detailed information about the parameters of breast cancer imaging devices.

Device / Parameter	SFM	DM	DBT	U/S	MRI	PET	PET/ CT	PET/MRI	BCT	PEM	BSGI	SPECT
Cost of Per Scan	\$45	\$155.76	\$215.94	\$155	\$2,611	\$4,500	\$5,000	\$3,500	\$1,500	\$1,100	\$450	\$3,950
Cost of Device	\$240,000	\$273,940	\$462,010	\$45,000	\$400,000	\$1,900,000	\$2,000,000	\$4,500,000	.\$1,000,000	\$700,000	\$500,000	\$500,000
Radiation Dose (mSv: millisievert)	0.56 mSv	0.44 mSv	1.0 mSv	No Radiation	No Radiation	6.7 mSv	17.6 mSv	9.3 mSv	1.39 mSv	6.65 mSv	9.15 mSv	6 mSv
Specificity	%98.5	%96.9	%80.7	%88.5	%89.7	%85	%89	%71.4	%87	%96	% 59.5	%71
Sensitivity	% 66.1	%69.1	%92	%72.6	%82	%90	%95	%100	%91	%95	% 96.4	%87
Total Scan Time	5sec.	6 sec.	4 sec.	15 min.	30 min.	25 min.	30 min.	30 min.	10 sec.	5 min.	10 min.	30 min.
Spatial Resolution (Ip/mm: line pairs per millimeter)	16 lp/mm	5.0 lp/mm	2.65 lp/mm	2.0 lp/mm	1.5 lp/mm	1.5 lp/mm	1.1 lp/mm	0.3 lp/mm	0.32 lp/mm	1.5 lp/mm	1.6 lp/mm	2.0 lp/mm
Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure (3 mSv)	10 weeks	8 weeks	4 months	No Radiation	No Radiation	2.3 years	5.8 years	3.1 years	5.5 months	2.2 years	3 years	2 years
Real 3D	×	×	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	×	1
No Compression	×	×	×	×	1	1	1	1	1	×	×	1
Not Claustrophobic	1	1	1	1	×	×	×	×	1	1	1	×

Table 6.1: Parameter Values of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices

Table 6.2 shows the linguistic scale of importance for patients, using a triangular fuzzy numbers. Each parameters of breast cancer imaging devices, classified according to their importance level for patients.

Linguistic scale for evaluation	Triangular fuzzy scale	Importance ratings of criteria
Very High (VH)	(0.75, 1, 1)	Specificity, Sensitivity, Spatial
		Resolution, Real3D
Important (H)	(0.50, 0.75, 1)	-
Medium (M)	(0.25, 0.50, 0.75)	Cost of Per Scan, Radiation
		Dose, Total Scan Time, No
		Compression, Claustrophobia
Low (L)	(0, 0.25, 0.50)	Comparison of Natural
		Radiation Exposure
Very Low (VL)	(0, 0, 0.25)	-

Parameter	Min/Max	Weight	Preference Function
Cost of Per Scan	min	0,50	Gaussian
Radiation Dose	min	0,50	Gaussian
Specificity	max	0,92	Gaussian
Sensitivity	max	0,92	Gaussian
Total Scan Time	min	0,50	Gaussian
Spatial Resolution	max	0,92	Gaussian
Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure	min	0,25	Gaussian
Real 3D	max	0,92	Gaussian
No Compression	max	0,50	Gaussian
Claustrophobia	min	0,50	Gaussian

 Table 6.3: Visual PROMETHEE Application of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Patients

Parameter	Unit	Minimum	Maximum	Average
Cost of Per Scan	\$	45	5000	1932
Radiation Dose	mSv	0,0	17,60	4,90
Specificity	%	59,5	98,5	84,4
Sensitivity	%	66,1	100,0	86,3
Total Scan Time	sec	4,00	1800,0	877,08
Spatial Resolution	lp/mm	0,30	16,00	2,96
Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure	weeks	0,0	305,0	84,89
Real 3D	yes/no	0,0	1,0	0,75
No Compression	yes/no	0,0	1,0	0,50
Claustrophobia	yes/no	0,0	1,0	0,42

 Table 6.4: Visual PROMETHEE Statistics of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Patients

Table 6.5 shows the linguistic scale of importance for hospitals, using a triangular fuzzy numbers. Each parameters of breast cancer imaging devices, classified according to their importance level for hospitals.

Linguistic scale for evaluation	Triangular fuzzy scale	Importance ratings of criteria
Very High (VH)	(0.75, 1, 1)	Cost of Per Scan, Specificity, Sensitivity, Spatial Resolution, Real 3D
Important (H)	(0.50, 0.75, 1)	Cost of Device
Medium (M)	(0.25, 0.50, 0.75)	Radiation Dose, Total Scan Time
Low (L)	(0, 0.25, 0.50)	ComparisonofNaturalRadiationExposure,NoCompression, Claustrophobia
Very Low (VL)	(0, 0, 0.25)	-

Table 6.5:	Linguistic	scale of	f importance	for Hospitals
------------	------------	----------	--------------	---------------

Parameter	Min/Max	Weight	Preference Function
Cost of Per Scan	max	0,92	Gaussian
Cost of Device	min	0,75	Gaussian
Radiation Dose	min	0,50	Gaussian
Specificity	max	0,92	Gaussian
Sensitivity	max	0,92	Gaussian
Total Scan Time	min	0,50	Gaussian
Spatial Resolution	max	0,92	Gaussian
Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure	min	0,25	Gaussian
Real 3D	max	0,92	Gaussian
No Compression	max	0,25	Gaussian
Claustrophobia	min	0,25	Gaussian

 Table 6.6: Visual PROMETHEE Application of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Hospitals

Parameter	Unit	Minimum	Maximum	Average
Cost of Per Scan	\$	45	5000	1932
Cost of Device	\$	45000	4500000	1043413
Radiation Dose	mSv	0,0	17,60	4,90
Specificity	%	59,5	98,5	84,4
Sensitivity	%	66,1	100,0	86,3
Total Scan Time	sec	4,00	1800,0	877,08
Spatial Resolution	lp/mm	0,30	16,00	2,96
Comparison of Natural Radiation Exposure	weeks	0,0	305,0	84,89
Real 3D	yes/no	0,0	1,0	0,75
No Compression	yes/no	0,0	1,0	0,50
Claustrophobia	yes/no	0,0	1,0	0,42

 Table 6.7: Visual PROMETHEE Statistics of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Hospitals

CHAPTER 7 RESULTS

The results of the analysis show that with the set cost of per scan, cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D, compression and claustrophobia, PEM (1^{st}) and BCT (2^{nd}) are two most favourite imaging devices for breast cancer both the patients and the hospitals.

Complete Ranking	Device	Positive outranking flow	Negative outranking flow	Net flow
1	PEM	0,3400	0,1451	0,1949
2	BCT	0,3034	0,1641	0,1394
3	DBT	0,3078	0,1796	0,1283
4	DM	0,3293	0,2149	0,1145
5	U/S	0,2761	0,2131	0,0630
6	SFM	0,3317	0,2940	0,0377
7	MRI	0,2357	0,2477	-0,0120
8	BSGI	0,2239	0,3050	-0,0811
9	PET/MRI	0,2130	0,3151	-0,1021
10	PET	0,1865	0,2992	-0,1128
11	PET/CT	0,1775	0,3033	-0,1258
12	SPECT	0,1300	0,3739	-0,2438

Table 7.1: Complete Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Patients

Figure 7.1 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Mammography (PEM) for patients, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, real 3D and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in breast compression, radiation dose and comparison of natural radiation exposure.



Figure 7.1: Action Profile of PEM for Patients

Figure 7.2 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Breast Computed Tomography (BCT) for patients , having a positive ranking in radiation dose, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D, breast compression and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan.



Figure 7.2: Action Profile of BCT for Patients

Figure 7.3 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Digital Breast Tomosynthesis (DBT) for patients , having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in specificity and breast compression.



Figure 7.3: Action Profile of DBT for Patients

Figure 7.4 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Digital Mammography (DM) for patients, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression.



Figure 7.4: Action Profile of DM for Patients

Figure 7.5 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Ultrasound (U/S) for patients, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in sensitivity, total scan time and breast compression.



Figure 7.5: Action Profile of U/S for Patients

Figure 7.6 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Screen-Film Mammography (SFM) for patients, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression.



Figure 7.6: Action Profile of SFM for Patients

Figure 7.7 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) for patients, having a positive ranking in radiation dose, specificity, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, total scan time and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.7: Action Profile of MRI for Patients

Figure 7.8 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Breast Specific Gamma Imaging (BSGI) for patients, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in radiation dose, specificity, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and breast compression.



Figure 7.8: Action Profile of BSGI for Patients

Figure 7.9 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Tomography- Magnetic Resonance Imaging (PET/MRI) for patients, having a positive ranking in sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.9: Action Profile of PET/MRI for Patients

Figure 7.10 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Tomography (PET) for patients, having a positive ranking in sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.10: Action Profile of PET for Patients

Figure 7.11 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography (PET/CT) for patients, having a positive ranking in specificity, sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.11: Action Profile of PET/CT for Patients

Figure 7.12 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT) for patients, having a positive ranking in spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.12: Action Profile of SPECT for Patients

Figure 7.13 shows a detailed rainbow ranking of the breast cancer imaging devices and their identified parameters that make a device favourable or unfavourable for patients.

Devices from the best to the worst respectively;

 $\label{eq:pembergen} PEM > BCT > DBT > DM > US > SFM > MRI > BSGI > PET/MRI > PET > PET/CT > SPECT$



Figure 7.13: Positive and Negative Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Patients

Complete Ranking	Device	Positive outranking flow	Negative outranking flow	Net flow
1	PEM	0,3660	0,2363	0,1297
2	BCT	0,3404	0,2459	0,0945
3	MRI	0,3461	0,2542	0,0919
4	DBT	0,3293	0,2750	0,0542
5	DM	0,3386	0,3120	0,0266
6	U/S	0,3087	0,2922	0,0165
7	PET/CT	0,2989	0,2991	-0,0002
8	PET	0,2985	0,3040	-0,0055
9	SFM	0,3252	0,4044	-0,0793
10	SPECT	0,2580	0,3513	-0,0934
11	PET/MRI	0,2669	0,3739	-0,1070
12	BSGI	0,2522	0,3800	-0,1278

Table 7.2: Complete Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Hospitals

_

Figure 7.14 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Mammography (PEM) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, real 3D and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, cost of device, radiation dose, comparison of natural radiation exposure and breast compression.



Figure 7.14: Action Profile of PEM for Hospitals

Figure 7.15 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Breast Computed Tomography (BCT) for hospitals , having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D, breast compression and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of device.



Figure 7.15: Action Profile of BCT for Hospitals

Figure 7.16 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in sensitivity, total scan time and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.16: Action Profile of MRI for Hospitals

Figure 7.17 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Digital Breast Tomosynthesis (DBT) for hospitals , having a positive ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, specificity and breast compression.



Figure 7.17: Action Profile of DBT for Hospitals

Figure 7.18 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Digital Mammography (DM) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression.



Figure 7.18: Action Profile of DM for Hospitals

Figure 7.19 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Ultrasound (U/S) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, spatial resolution, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, total scan time and breast compression.



Figure 7.19: Action Profile of U/S for Hospitals

Figure 7.20 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Tomography – Computed Tomography (PET/CT) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, specificity, sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.20: Action Profile of PET/CT for Hospitals

Figure 7.21 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Tomography (PET) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.21: Action Profile of PET for Hospitals

Figure 7.22 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Screen-Film Mammography (SFM) for patients, having a positive ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia but showing a low ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression.



Figure 7.22: Action Profile of SFM for Hospitals

Figure 7.23 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a neutral ranking in cost of device and low ranking in radiation dose, specificity, sensitivity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.23: Action Profile of SPECT for Hospitals

Figure 7.24 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Positron Emission Tomography- Magnetic Resonance Imaging (PET/MRI) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in cost of per scan, sensitivity, spatial resolution, real 3D and breast compression but showing a low ranking in cost of device, radiation dose, specificity, total scan time, comparison of natural radiation exposure and claustrophobia.



Figure 7.24: Action Profile of PET/MRI for Hospitals

Figure 7.25 shows an action profile of the weak points and strong points about Breast Specific Gamma Imaging (BSGI) for hospitals, having a positive ranking in sensitivity, total scan time, spatial resolution and claustrophobia but showing a neutral ranking in cost of device and low ranking in cost of per scan, radiation dose, specificity, comparison of natural radiation exposure, real 3D and breast compression.



Figure 7.25: Action Profile of BSGI for Hosiptals

Figure 7.26 shows a detailed rainbow ranking of the breast cancer imaging devices and their identified parameters that make a device favourable or unfavourable for hospitals.

Devices from the best to the worst respectively;

 $\label{eq:pembergen} PEM > BCT > MRI > DBT > DM > U/S > PET/CT > PET > SFM > SPECT > PET/MRI > BSGI$



Figure 7.26: Positive and Negative Ranking of Breast Cancer Imaging Devices for Hospitals

CHAPTER 8 CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

8.1 Conclusion

The analysis of these study shows that Positron Emission Mammography (PEM) clearly outclassing other imaging devices of Breast Cancer for both patients and hospitals. In consequence of its high values in scale of importance like; high sensitivity (the rate of correct diagnosis to a cancerous patient), high specificity (the rate of correct diagnosis to a non-cancerous patient), high spatial resolution (the number of pixels used in creation of a digital image) and Real 3D ability. PEM also has low total scan time and cost of scan below average. It has a radiation dose slightly above the average but in addition to all of these, PEM is suitable for claustrophobic patients. Patients and hospitals which are sensitive to radiation dose can choose the second best breast cancer imaging device, Breast Computed Tomography (BCT). On the other hand, the worst option for the patients is Single Photon Emission Computed Tomography (SPECT) and the worst option for the hospitals is Breast Specific Gamma Imaging (BSGI), due to their less value in scale of importance.

Fuzzy PROMETHEE, provide control mechanism to researcher to check him or her fictitious or real data to observe their potential with comparing, according to importance scale of fuzzy PROMETHEE weighs. As a result, a detailed ranking can be made from the best option to the worst.

8.2 Discussion

The result of this study provides guidance on the devices used in the imaging of breast cancer for both patients and hospitals. It increases the diagnostic reliability, which is of great importance for the patient, by presenting the most suitable breast cancer imaging device according to their detailed parameters. Patients, who want to have a breast cancer examination, can use this study to determine the most suitable device for themselves. In this way, the process of early diagnosis, which is of great importance, is speed up. In addition to this, hospitals can compare the parameters of the breast cancer imaging devices and they can determine the best options for themself before buying. As this study is prepared according to the present data, the results can be change with the developing device technologies.

REFERENCES

- Aklan, B., Paulus, D. H., Wenkel, E., Braun, H., Navalpakkam, B. K., Ziegler, S., ... & Quick, H. H. (2013). Toward simultaneous PET/MR breast imaging: systematic evaluation and integration of a radiofrequency breast coil. *Medical physics*, 40(2).
- Amen, D. D. (2013, March 19). Dr. Amen's Love Affair with SPECT Scans. Retrieved from https://sciencebasedmedicine.org/dr-amens-love-affair-with-spect-scans/
- American Institute for Cancer Research. (2018). *Breast Cancer Report 2017*. Retrieved from http://www.aicr.org/continuous-update-project/reports/breast-cancer-report-2017.pdf
- American Institute for Cancer Research. (2018). *Breast Cancer Statistics*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.wcrf.org/dietandcancer/cancer-trends/breast-cancer-statistics</u>
- Auguste, P.E., Barton, P., Hyde, C., & Roberts, T.E. (2011). An economic evaluation of positron emission tomography (PET) and positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) for the diagnosis of breast cancer recurrence. *Health technology assessment*, 15 18, iii-iv, 1-54.
- Bennett, R. (2014). Purchasing Insight: Digital Mammography. Retrieved from <u>https://www.tractmanager.com/resource/purchasing-insight-digital-mammography/</u>
- Bernardi, D., Macaskill, P., Pellegrini, M., Valentini, M., Fantò, C., Ostillio, L., ... & Houssami, N. (2016). Breast cancer screening with tomosynthesis (3D mammography) with acquired or synthetic 2D mammography compared with 2D mammography alone (STORM-2): a population-based prospective study. *The Lancet Oncology*, 17(8), 1105-1113.
- Besson, G. M., Koch, A., Tesic, M., Sottoriva, R., Prieur-Drevron, P., Munier, B., ... & DeGroot, P. (2002). Design and evaluation of a slot-scanning full-field digital mammography system. In Medical Imaging 2002: *Physics of Medical Imaging* (Vol. 4682, pp. 457-469). International Society for Optics and Photonics.
- Brans, J. P., Vincke, P., & Mareschal, B. (1986). How to select and how to rank projects: The PROMETHEE method. *European journal of operational research*, 24(2), 228-238.

- Bray, F., Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Siegel, R. L., Torre, L. A., & Jemal, A. (2018). Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians*, 68(6), 394-424.
- Breast Cancer Research Foundation. (2018). *Breast Cancer Statistics*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bcrf.org/breast-cancer-statistics</u>
- Breast MRI FAQs. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.mrigroup.com/Breast-FAQ.aspx
- Brem, R. F., Floerke, A. C., Rapelyea, J. A., Teal, C., Kelly, T., & Mathur, V. (2008). Breastspecific gamma imaging as an adjunct imaging modality for the diagnosis of breast cancer. *Radiology*, 247(3), 651-657.
- Ching, N. W. (2012, September). GETTING A SCAN? BE SOOTHED BY THE SEA. *THE STRAITS TIMES*, 12–14.
- Cho, N., Im, S. A., Cheon, G. J., Park, I. A., Lee, K. H., Kim, T. Y., ... & Suh, K. J. (2018). Integrated 18 F-FDG PET/MRI in breast cancer: early prediction of response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging*, 45(3), 328-339.
- Claustrophobia: Fear of confined spaces Causes, Symptoms and Treatment / Healthtopia (2018).Retrieved from; <u>https://www.healthtopia.net/disease/mental-</u> <u>health/phobia/claustrophobia-causes-symptoms-treatment</u>
- CMR NAVISCAN. (2019). Solo IITM High Resolution Breast PET Scanner. Retrieved from http://www.cmr-naviscan.com/naviscan-solo-2/
- Comas M, Arrospide A, Mar J, Sala M, Vilaprinyó E, Hernández C, et al. (2014) Budget Impact Analysis of Switching to Digital Mammography in a Population-Based Breast Cancer Screening Program: *A Discrete Event Simulation Model*. PLoS ONE 9(5): e97459. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0097459
- Comparing 2D and 3D Mammography. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.harringtonhospital.org/women_blog/comparing-2d-3d-mammography/

Cooper, A. P. (1840). On the Anatomy of the Breast (Vol. 1). Longman.

- Dai, D., Song, X., Wang, M., Li, L., Ma, W., Xu, W., ... & Gu, X. (2017). Comparison of diagnostic performance of three-dimensional positron emission mammography versus whole body positron emission tomography in breast cancer. *Contrast media & molecular imaging*, 2017.
- de Munck, L., de Bock, G. H., Otter, R., Reiding, D., Broeders, M. J., Willemse, P. H., & Siesling, S. (2016). Digital vs screen-film mammography in population-based breast cancer screening: performance indicators and tumour characteristics of screendetected and interval cancers. *British journal of cancer*, 115(5), 517–524. doi:10.1038/bjc.2016.226
- DePuey, E. G., Bommireddipalli, S., Clark, J., Leykekhman, A., Thompson, L. B., & Friedman, M. (2011). A comparison of the image quality of full-time myocardial perfusion SPECT vs wide beam reconstruction half-time and half-dose SPECT. *Journal of Nuclear Cardiology*, 18(2), 273-280.
- Devolli-Disha, E., Manxhuka-Kërliu, S., Ymeri, H., & Kutllovci, A. (2009). Comparative accuracy of mammography and ultrasound in women with breast symptoms according to age and breast density. *Bosnian journal of basic medical sciences*, 9(2), 131–136. doi:10.17305/bjbms.2009.2832
- Dillon, D. A., Guidi, A. J., & Schnitt, S. J. (2010). Pathology of invasive breast cancer. *Diseases of the Breast*. 4th ed. Philadelphia, Pa: Lippincott-Williams & Wilkins, 374-407.
- Escobar, A. (n.d.). Get Ultrasound Machine Quotes Today & Save an Average of 29%. Retrieved from https://www.kompareit.com/business/medical-equipment-buying-3dultrasound-machine.html
- Esmael Alsulimane, M. (n.d.). Mammography Machines. Retrieved from https://marz.kau.edu.sa/Files/0017817/Subjects/Fifth%20Lecture.pdf
- Eustice, Carol. (2019, March 12). What Is a CT Scan? Retrieved from <u>https://www.verywellhealth.com/what-is-a-cat-scan-189603</u>
- F. Conant, E. (2017, December 8). Including Diagnosis Related Costs, *3D Mammography Costs Less than Digital Mammography*. Penn Medicine News.

- Fenster, A., Downey, D. B., & Cardinal, H. N. (2001). Three-dimensional ultrasound imaging. *Physics in medicine & biology*, 46(5), R67.
- FORNELL, D. (2008, September 3). SPECT Scanner vs. PET, Which is Best? Retrieved from https://www.dicardiology.com/article/spect-scanner-vs-pet-which-best
- Ghani, M. U., Wu, D., Wong, M. D., Ren, L., Zheng, B., Yang, K., ... & Liu, H. (2016).
 Quantitative comparison of spatial resolution in step-and-shoot and continuous motion digital breast tomosynthesis. In Medical Imaging 2016: *Physics of Medical Imaging* (Vol. 9783, p. 97836D). International Society for Optics and Photonics.
- GLOVER, L. (Ed.). (2014, July 16). Why Does an MRI Cost So Darn Much? Retrieved from http://money.com/money/2995166/why-does-mri-cost-so-much/
- Gong, Z., & Williams, M. B. (2015). Comparison of breast specific gamma imaging and molecular breast tomosynthesis in breast cancer detection: Evaluation in phantoms. *Medical physics*, 42(7), 4250-4259.
- Hammick, M. (2013, April 1). PET Scans After Cancer Treatment. Retrieved from http://www.ele.uri.edu/Courses/bme181/S13/2_MorganH_2.pdf
- Haraldsen, A., Bluhme, H., Røhl, L., Pedersen, E. M., Jensen, A. B., Hansen, E. B., ... & Morsing, A. (2016). Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) and SPECT/low-dose computerized tomography did not increase sensitivity or specificity compared to planar bone scintigraphy for detection of bone metastases in advanced breast cancer. *Clinical physiology and functional imaging*, 36(1), 40-46.
- He, B., & Frey, E. C. (2010). Effects of shortened acquisition time on accuracy and precision of quantitative estimates of organ activitya. *Medical physics*, 37(4), 1807-1815.
- Hendrick, R. Edward. (2010). Radiation Doses and Cancer Risks from Breast Imaging Studies. *Radiology*, 249.
- Hicks, R. J., Binns, D. S., Fawcett, M. E., Ware, R. E., Kalff, V., McKenzie, A. F., ... & Peters, L. J. (1999). Positron emission tomography (PET): experience with a largefield-of-view three-dimensional PET scanner. *Medical journal of Australia*, 171(10), 529-532.
- Holland, K., Sechopoulos, I., Mann, R. M., Den Heeten, G. J., van Gils, C. H., & Karssemeijer, N. (2017). Influence of breast compression pressure on the performance of population-based mammography screening. *Breast cancer research*, 19(1), 126.
- Hologic. (2015). HOLOGIC. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hologic.com/sites/default/files/2017/Products/Image%20Analytics/</u> <u>PDFs/C-View-Brochure.pdf</u>
- Houghton, J. L., Zeglis, B. M., Abdel-Atti, D., Aggeler, R., Sawada, R., Agnew, B. J., ... & Lewis, J. S. (2015). Site-specifically labeled CA19. 9-targeted immunoconjugates for the PET, NIRF, and multimodal PET/NIRF imaging of pancreatic cancer. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(52), 15850-15855.
- J. Yaffe, M. (2010). Detectors for Digital Mammography. Retrieved from <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/09bc/1d68a2dde9ca6e167e0c1d83237f348baccb.pdf</u>
- Kamal, R., Mansour, S., ElMesidy, D., Moussa, K., & Hussien, A. (2016). Detection and diagnosis of breast lesions: Performance evaluation of digital breast tomosynthesis and magnetic resonance mammography. *The Egyptian Journal of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine*, 47(3), 1159-1172.
- Kiral, E., & Uzun, B. (2017). Forecasting closing returns of Borsa Istanbul Index with Markov Chain Process of fuzzy states. *Pressacademia*, 4(1), 15-24. doi: 10.17261/pressacademia.2017.362
- KOKTYSH, LOLA . (2017, May 5). The Past, Present and Future of PET/MRI Scanners. *IMAGING TECHNOLOGY NEWS*

- Kuzmiak, C. M., Cole, E. B., Zeng, D., Tuttle, L. A., Steed, D., & Pisano, E. D. (2016). Dedicated three-dimensional breast computed tomography: lesion characteristic perception by radiologists. *Journal of clinical imaging science*, 6.
- Lai, C. J., Shaw, C. C., Geiser, W., Chen, L., Arribas, E., Stephens, T., ... & Whitman, G. J. (2008). Comparison of slot scanning digital mammography system with full-field digital mammography system. *Medical physics*, 35(6Part1), 2339-2346.
- Lee, E., Werner, M. E., Karp, J. S., & Surti, S. (2013). Design Optimization of a TOF, Breast PET Scanner. *IEEE transactions on nuclear science*, 60(3), 1645–1652. doi:10.1109/TNS.2013.2257849
- LILLARD, A. (2017, November 28). PEM Focuses on High-Risk Breast Cancer. Retrieved from <u>https://www.itnonline.com/article/pem-focuses-high-risk-breast-cancer</u>
- Linda Mundy. (2010, March). Scintimammograms or breast-specific gamma imaging (BSGI) for the evaluation of disease spread in women diagnosed with breast cancer. Retrieved from <u>http://www.horizonscanning.gov.au/internet/horizon/publishing.nsf/</u> <u>Content/C8A5BA60BD01A93ECA257757000A2015/\$File/PS1_scintimammogram.</u> <u>%20breast%20cancer%20pdf.pdf</u>
- Liu, F., Zhang, Q., Zhu, D., Li, Z., Li, J., Wang, B., ... & Dong, J. (2015). Performance of positron emission tomography and positron emission tomography/computed tomography using fluorine-18-fluorodeoxyglucose for the diagnosis, staging, and recurrence assessment of bone sarcoma: a systematic review and meta- analysis. *Medicine*, 94(36).
- Liz Szabo (Ed.). (2012, October 9). New 3-D mammograms have benefits, risks. Retrieved from <u>https://eu.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2012/10/09/3d-mammogram-tomosynthesis/1615719/</u>
- Macharis, C., Springael, J., De Brucker, K., & Verbeke, A. (2004). PROMETHEE and AHP: The design of operational synergies in multicriteria analysis.: Strengthening PROMETHEE with ideas of AHP. *European Journal of Operational* 307-317.

- Magdalena Berger, Michael K.Gould, Paul G.Barnett (2003). The Cost of Positron Emission Tomography in Six United States Veterans Affairs Hospitals and Two Academic Medical Centers Read More: <u>https://www.ajronline.org/doi/10.2214/ajr.181.2.1810359</u>. *American Journal of Roentgenology*, 181(2), 359–365.
- Maisaini M., Uzun B., Ozsahin I., Uzun D. (2019) "Evaluating Lung Cancer Treatment Techniques Using Fuzzy PROMETHEE Approach", *Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing*, vol 896. Springer Mammography unit. (2011). Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/medical_devices/innovation/mammography.pdf</u>
- Martí-Climent, J. M., Prieto, E., Morán, V., Sancho, L., Rodríguez-Fraile, M., Arbizu, J., ...
 Richter, J. A. (2017). Effective dose estimation for oncological and neurological
 PET/CT procedures. *EJNMMI research*, 7(1), 37. doi:10.1186/s13550-017-0272-5
- Mawlawi, O., Podoloff, D. A., Kohlmyer, S., Williams, J. J., Stearns, C. W., Culp, R. F., & Macapinlac, H. (2004). Performance characteristics of a newly developed PET/CT scanner using NEMA standards in 2D and 3D modes. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine*, 45(10), 1734-1742.
- Melsaether, A. N., Raad, R. A., Pujara, A. C., Ponzo, F. D., Pysarenko, K. M., Jhaveri, K., ...
 Moy, L. A. (2016). Comparison of Whole-Body (18)F FDG PET/MR Imaging and
 Whole-Body (18)F FDG PET/CT in Terms of Lesion Detection and Radiation Dose in Patients with Breast Cancer. *Radiology*, 281(1), 193–202.
 doi:10.1148/radiol.2016151155
- Mobile Thermographic Imaging. (2018). Ultrasound Pricing. Retrieved from https://www.atlanta-breast-thermography.com/procedures-pricing
- Muschlitz, L. (Ed.). (2010, September). MBI COULD HELP BREAST CENTERS CAUGHT IN ECONOMIC SQUEEZE. *AuntMinnie*.
- Muzic, R. F., Jr, & DiFilippo, F. P. (2014). Positron emission tomography-magnetic resonance imaging: technical review. *Seminars in roentgenology*, 49(3), 242–254. doi:10.1053/j.ro.2014.10.001

- Müller, F. H. H., Farahati, J., Müller, A. G., Gillman, E., & Hentschel, M. (2016). Positron emission mammography in the diagnosis of breast cancer. *Nuklearmedizin*, 55(01), 15-20.
- National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering (Ed.). (n.d.). Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). Retrieved from <u>https://www.nibib.nih.gov/science-education/science-topics/magnetic-resonance-imaging-mri</u>
- Neugebauer, J. (n.d.). CT Imaging of the Breast with a Novel New System / Cone Beam CT. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aapm.org/meetings/amos2/pdf/41-10113-1186-206.pdf</u>
- O'Connell, A. (Ed.). (2016). *Contrast-Enhanced Cone Beam Breast CT for Diagnostic Breast Imaging. In Clinical Trial Protocol* (p. 12). 150 Lucius Gordon Dr. #112 West Henrietta, NY 14586: Koning Corporation.
- O'connell, A. M., Karellas, A., & Vedantham, S. (2014). The potential role of dedicated 3D breast CT as a diagnostic tool: review and early clinical examples. *The breast journal*, 20(6), 592-605.
- Ozsahin, D., Uzun, B., Musa, M., Şentürk, N., Nurçin, F., &Ozsahin, I. (2017). Evaluating nuclear medicine imaging devices using fuzzy PROMETHEE method. *Procedia Computer Science*, 120, 699-705.
- Ozsahin, D. U., Uzun, B., Musa, M. S., & Ozsahin, I. (2018). Evaluating X-Ray based medical imaging devices with fuzzy preference ranking organization method for enrichment evaluations. *INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ADVANCED COMPUTER SCIENCE AND APPLICATIONS*, 9(3), 7-10.
- Ozsahin, I., Sharif, T., Ozsahin, D., & Uzun, B. (2019). Evaluation of solid-state detectors in medical imaging with fuzzy PROMETHEE. Journal Of Instrumentation, 14(01), C01019-C01019. doi: 10.1088/1748-0221/14/01/c01019.
- Peng, M. J. Q., Yin, W. Q., Ju, X., Ayoub, A. F., Khambay, B. S., Chen, C. T., ... & Bai, B. (2012). Three-dimensional image fusion across PET+ MRI modalities based on the approach of characteristic coregistration. *Biomedizinische Technik/Biomedical Engineering*, 57(5), 413-422.

- PET Scans After Cancer Treatment. (2014, June). Retrieved from <u>http://www.choosingwisely.org/patient-resources/pet-scans-after-cancer-treatment/</u>
- Pheiffer, T. S., Thompson, R. C., Rucker, D. C., Simpson, A. L., & Miga, M. I. (2014). Model-based correction of tissue compression for tracked ultrasound in soft tissue image-guided surgery. *Ultrasound in medicine & biology*, 40(4), 788–803. doi:10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2013.11.003
- Positron Emission Tomography Computed Tomography (PET/CT). (2017, January 23). Retrieved from <u>https://www.radiologyinfo.org/en/info.cfm?pg=pet</u>
- Radiation Dose in X-Ray and CT Exams. (2019, March 20). Retrieved from <u>https://www.radiologyinfo.org/en/pdf/safety-xray.pdf</u>
- RadiologyInfo (Ed.). (2018, March 9). General Ultrasound. Retrieved from <u>https://www.radiologyinfo.org/en/info.cfm?pg=genus</u>
- Raylman, R. R., Van Kampen, W., Stolin, A. V., Gong, W., Jaliparthi, G., Martone, P. F., ... & Perna, M. (2018). A dedicated breast-PET/CT scanner: Evaluation of basic performance characteristics. *Medical physics*, 45(4), 1603-1613.
- Rentz, S. (2018, April 3). MRI Machine Cost and Price Guide [2018 Update]. Retrieved from https://info.blockimaging.com/bid/92623/mri-machine-cost-and-price-guide
- Schattner, E. (2015, February). All Women Should Have Access To Ultrasound Screening For Breast Cancer. Forbes.
- Schilling, K., Conti, P., Adler, L., & Tafra, L. (2008). The role of positron emission mammography in breast cancer imaging and management. *Applied Radiology*, 37(4), 26.
- Siemens Medical Solutions USA. (2018, April). Symbia SPECT. Retrieved from <u>https://static.healthcare.siemens.com/siemens_hwem-hwem_ssxa_websites-context-root/wcm/idc/groups/public/@global/@imaging/@molecular/documents/download/mda4/mjy z/~edisp/symbia_spect_brochure-05353625.pdf</u>

- Singer, P. (2015, February 4). URMC announces new breast diagnostic device. Retrieved from https://eu.democratandchronicle.com/story/news/2015/02/04/urmc-breast-imaging-device/22850855/
- Spanu, A., Sanna, D., Chessa, F., Manca, A., Cottu, P., Fancellu, A., ... & Madeddu, G. (2012). The clinical impact of breast scintigraphy acquired with a breast specific γcamera (BSGC) in the diagnosis of breast cancer: Incremental value versus mammography. *International journal of oncology*, 41(2), 483-489.
- Ulengin, F., Topcu, Y. I., & Sahin, S. O. (2001). An artificial neural network approach to multicriteria model selection. *In Multiple criteria decision making in the new millennium* (pp. 101-110). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Uzun, B., & Kıral, E. (2017). Application of markov chains-fuzzy states to gold price. *Procedia Computer Science*, 120, 365-371. doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2017.11.251
- Uzun, D., Uzun, B., Sani, M., Helwan, A., Nwekwo, C., & Veysel, F. et al. (2017).
 Evaluating Cancer Treatment Alternatives using Fuzzy PROMETHEE Method.
 International Journal Of Advanced Computer Science And Applications, 8(10). doi: 10.14569/ijacsa.2017.081024.
- Uzun Ozsahin, D. and Ozsahin, I. (2018). A Fuzzy PROMETHEE Approach for Breast Cancer Treatment Techniques. *International Journal of Medical Research & Health Sciences*, 7(5), pp.29-32.
- Uzun Ozsahin, D., Isa, N., Uzun, B. and Ozsahin, I. (2018). Effective analysis of image reconstruction algorithms in nuclear medicine using fuzzy PROMETHEE. 2018 Advances in Science and Engineering Technology International Conferences (ASET)
- Uzun Ozsahin, D., Uzun B., Sani, M., Helwan, A., Wilson, C.N., Nurcin, F.V., Şentürk, N., Ozsahin, I. (2017). Evaluating cancer treatment techniques using fuzzy PROMETHEE method. *International journal of advanced computer science and applications*, vol 8. pp 177-85
- Vercher-Conejero, J., Pelegrí-Martinez, L., Lopez-Aznar, D., & Cózar-Santiago, M. (2015). Positron emission tomography in breast cancer. *Diagnostics*, 5(1), 61-83.

- Weigel, S., Gerss, J., Hense, H. W., Krischke, M., Sommer, A., Czwoydzinski, J., ... & Baier, S. (2018). Digital breast tomosynthesis plus synthesised images versus standard fullfield digital mammography in population-based screening (TOSYMA): protocol of a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ open*, 8(5), e020475.
- Wienbeck, S., Uhlig, J., Luftner-Nagel, S., Zapf, A., Surov, A., von Fintel, E., ... & Fischer, U. (2017). The role of cone-beam breast-CT for breast cancer detection relative to breast density. *European radiology*, 27(12), 5185-5195.
- World Health Organization. (2013). Breast cancer: prevention and control. Retrieved from <u>https://www.who.int/cancer/detection/breastcancer/en/index1.html</u>
- World Health Organization. (2018). Breast Cancer. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/cancer/prevention/diagnosis-screening/breast-cancer/en/
- Xie, H., Zhang, J., Chen, J., Zhang, F., Li, L., Qi, J., & Chu, Y. (2013). Evaluation of Major Factors Affecting Spatial Resolution of Gamma-Rays Camera. Journal of Analytical Sciences, *Methods and Instrumentation*, 3(04), 227.
- Yaffe, M. J. (2006). Digital mammography. In PACS (pp. 363-371). Springer, New York, NY. Yang, S. C., Yu, C. Y., Lin, C. J., Lin, H. Y., & Lin, C. Y. (2015). Reconstruction of three-dimensional breast-tumor model using multispectral gradient vector flow snake method. *Journal of applied research and technology*, 13(2), 279-290.
- Zadeh, L. A., Klir, G. J., & Yuan, B. (1996). Fuzzy sets, fuzzy logic, and fuzzy systems: selected papers (Vol. 6). *World Scientific*.